4. ZINC AND CADMIUM

D. DAKTERNIEKS

CONTENTS

Introd	duction	279
4.1	Halide and pseudohalide complexes	280
4,2	Complexes with oxygen donor ligands	280
	4.2.1 Carboxylic acids and other related ligands	280
	4.2.2 Diketone and other ligands	282
4.3	Complexes with sulphur donor ligands	283
4.4	Complexes with nitrogen donor ligands	284
	4.4.1 Amines	284
	4.4.2 Schiff bases, hydrazones, hydrazides and related compounds	284
	4.4.3 Amino acids and metalloproteins	285
	4.4.4 Heterocycles	286
4.5	Complexes with phosphorus, carbon and other metal complexes as	
	donor ligands	288
4.6	Macrocyclic complexes	288
References		290

INTRODUCTION

This review of the inorganic and coordination chemistry of zinc and cadmium covers material which appeared in volumes 102 and 103 of Chemical Abstracts. Zinc and cadmium are treated together and, as was the case last year [1], much of the reported chemistry is routine and has not been reported in detail. Rigorous classification of ligands continues to be a difficulty for compounds containing several different potential donor atoms and the reader may need to refer to more than one section. Although the scope of this review does not encompass bio-inorganic in general, some more interesting aspects of applications of 113 Cd probes for biological systems have been included this year.

4.1 HALIDE AND PSEUDOHALIDE COMPLEXES

X-ray scattering measurements, Raman and infrared spectroscopy were used to investigate zinc bromide complexes in aqueous solution [2]. The highest bromide complex is $ZnBr_4^{2-}$ which is tetrahedral. $ZnBr_3^-$ is pyramidal and there is no evidence for the presence of Zn-Br-Zn bridging in the solutions studied. Potentiometric titrations were used to study formation of halide complexes of Cd in dmf and polycarbonate solutions [3]. The differences in the order of stability among the halide ions in non-aqueous solvents and water depend mainly on enthalpy changes. Cadmium-113 NMR chemical shifts of cadmium iodide complexes in supercooled aqueous solutions were measured [4] and resonances assigned to the following species in order of decreased shielding $CdI_3^- < CdI_4^{2-} < CdI_2 < CdI^+ < Cd^{2+}$. The Cd atom in solid BaCdCl₄.4H₂O is octahedrally coordinated to six Cl atoms in edge-sharing $CdCl_6$ octahedra [5]. The complex catena -poly[(1,3 -thiazolidine-2-thionecadmium)- μ -chloro- μ_3 -chloro], [CdCl₂(C₃H₅NS₂)]_n, is polymeric in the solid state with octahedrally coordinated Cd linked into infinite chains by double chloride bridges to give a Cl_5S environment about each Cd atom [6]. The complex CdZn(NCS)₄ is isomorphous to CdHg(NCS)₄ but with exchanged metal positions, consisting of tetrahedral Cd(SCN)₄ and Zn(NCS)₄ groups [7].

4.2 COMPLEXES WITH OXYGEN DONOR LIGANDS

4.2.1 Carboxylic acids and other related ligands

A review of the sterochemistry of metal double-formates, including those of Cd, has appeared [8]. The crystal structure of Zn(II) 2-formylphenoxyacetate shows Zn in an octahedral O_6 environment formed by four water molecules, and two trans monodentate acetates from the ligand [9]. The structure of the zinc-tartrate complex $[Zn_2(C_4H_4O_6)_2(H_2O)_2].3H_2O$ consists of cyclic double chelates which are linked by additional coordination of each Zn to a carboxyl O of an adjacent group [10]. The stability of heterobinuclear complexes of Cd-citrate with some bivalent metal ions were determined and the existence of mixed-metal complexes discussed in connection with transport and absorption of metal ions in biological systems [11]. The complex Zn(H₂L)₂ (where H_2L is γ - (3-carboxy-4-hydroxybenzoyl)butanoic acid) is reportedly tetrahedral with coordination from both aromatic carboxylic and phenolic oxygen atoms [12]. Stability constants for $Zn(phen)L^{+}$ (where $L^{-}=$ a variety of carboxylates) have been determined [13, 14]. Solution and solid state ¹¹³Cd NMR data have been measured for the complexes diaquobis(p-chlorobenzoato)cadmium(II), diaquobis(p-nitrobenzoato)cadmium(II), and aquabis(p-chlorobenzoata)bis(pyridine)cadmium(II) [15]. The first two complexes have structures intermediate between octahedral and trigonal prismatric geometries whereas the last complex has a seven coordinate pentagonal bipyramidal geometry. The compounds $ZnL_2(H_2O)_4$ (where HL=2, 4-hydroxybenzoic or 2, 5-dihydroxybenzoic acid) are octahedral with trans monodentate carboxylates [16, 17]. Zinc phenoxyisobutyrate is a one dimensional polymer based on a pentameric $[Zn_5L_{10}(H_2O)_2]$ unit [18]. The ligand (1) forms remarkably stable complexes with

both Zn^{2+} and Cd^{2+} [19].

A complex $ZnL(H_2O)_2$ has been synthesised and described (where L^2 is pyridine-2,6-dicarboxylate N-oxide) [20]. A number of mixed-ligand complexes which are Lewis-base adducts of of zinc carboxylates have been described [21, 22]. The complex $[Zn(2-NPA)_2(H_2O)_2]$ (where 2-NPA is 2-nitrophenoxyethanoic acid) is polymeric in the solid state with the Zn atom in an octahedral O_6 environment [23]. The crystal structure of $CdL(H_2O)_2.2H_2O$ (where $H_2L=$ thiosemicarbazidediacetic acid) shows a dimer in which the Cd atoms are seven coordinated [24]. In ZnH_2L (where H_4L is (2)) the pyridine nitrogen atoms are not coordinated to the metal but remain protonated to moderately high pH and the complex is thought to have a O_4N_2 coordination about the Zn atom [25].

HOOCCH₂

$$CH_2$$
 CH_2
 CH_2

The crystal structure of catena -2, 2, 2-tetraaquo- μ -ethylenediaminetetraacetato-cadmium manganese dihydrate, $[Cd(C_{10}H_{12}N_2O_8)Mn(H_2O)_4]_n$. $2H_2O$, consists of finite chains of Mn and Cd coordination polyhedra in which the Cd atom is seven coordinate by coordination to four O and two N atoms of one EDTA and to an O atom of a second ligand [26]. Complexation with

o-phenylenediamminetetraacetic acid has been studied both potentiometrically and spectrophotometrically [27]. A spectrophotometrical investigation of the Cd-EDTA-NH₃-H₂O system has also been described [28]. The crystal structure of hexaaquozincdisalicylatoborate tetrahydrate, [Zn(H₂O)₆][(C₆H₄OCOO)₂B]₂.4H₂O, shows the Zn to be in an octahedral environment from coordination to six water molecules [29]. A high yield synthesis of Zn(HL)₂.4H₂O (where H₂L is *L*-ascorbic acid) has been described [30]. Formation constants for some mixed-ligand complexes of Zn with picolinic acid have been reported [31] and various substituted quinoline-2-carboxylic acids have been assessed for extraction of Zn²⁺ ions [32].

Phosphorus-31 and ¹³C NMR spectroscopy indicate that the

2-(6-methylpyridyl)phosphonic acid complexes with Zn and Cd are similar in the solid state and in solution, with the ligand coordinating through the pyridyl nitrogen and the oxygen atom of the phosphonic group [33]. Cadmium forms three 1:1 complexes with ATP, each showing different degrees of ligand protonation [34]. The ¹¹³Cd chemical shift tensor of Cd in Cd[(EtO)₂PO₂]₂ has been partially determined [35]. A series of tetradentate diammine-substituted phosphonic acid complexes of Zn and Cd are polymeric with coordination through phosphoryl O and amino N atoms [36].

4.2.2 Diketone and other ligands

The complex $Zn(H_2L)_2$.2solv (where H_2L is (3)) has been used as intermediate for the synthesis of transition metal complexes of the same ligand [37].

The synthesis of Zn(acac)₂L (where L is 2-, 3-, 4-pyridine- carboxylicacid hydrazide has been described [38] as has been synthesis of a Zn complex with the ligand isoxicam (4) [39]. The structures of the malonamide complexes Zn(NCS)₂L₂ and Zn(NO₃)₂L₂ are both *trans* octahedral with coordination from both carbonyl oxygen atoms and from N-bonded NCS and monodentate NO₃ respectively [40]. Zinc and Cd complexes with (5) are coordinated from the S and one carbonyl O atom [41] and have been tested on pathogenic fungi.

4.3 COMPLEXES WITH SULPHUR DONOR LIGANDS

Coupling ${}^2J(^{113}Cd - S - ^{111}Cd)$ is observed in the adamantoid cage complex $[Cd_4(SPh)_{10}]^{2-}$ even though there is rapid exchange of thiolate ligands [42]. This confirms that the exchange process is an intramolecular exchange of bridging and terminal thiolate ligands. A similar mechanism is proposed for the tetra-adamantanoid aggregate $[S_4Cd_{10}(SPh)_{16}]^{4-}$ [43]. The new and novel aggregate $[ClZn_8(SPh)_{16}]^{-}$ has a structure which contains a tetracapped tetrahedron of Zn atoms centred by the chloride ligand and bridged on the twelve edges by thiolate ligands, and with four terminal thiolate ligands [44]. Stepwise oxidative substitution reactions of $[Cd_4(EPh)_{10}]^{2-}$ (where E = S, Se) with I_2 and Br_2 lead to formation of $[Cd_4(EPh)_6X_4]^{2-}$ in high yield [45]. The series $[(\mu-SPh)_n(\mu-SePh)_{6-n}(CdX)_4]^{2-}$ (where X = Br, I) have been characterised by ^{113}Cd NMR spectroscopy [45]. The metal thiolate anions $[M_2(\mu-SEt)_2(SEt)_4]^{2-}$ (where M = Zn, Cd) consist of edge-shared tetrahedra in the solid state [46]. Use has been made of the easy oxidation of PhS- ligands by S_x^0 in

$$[M(SPh)_{4}]^{2-} + 2S_{x}^{0} \rightarrow [M(S_{x})_{2}]^{2-} + 2PhSSPh$$

to synthesise $[Zn(S_4)_2]^{2-}$ which was subsequently characterised by its X-ray structure determination [47]. The crystal structure of the isotrithionedithiolate complex $[Zn(S_5C_3)_2]^{2-}$ shows the Zn atom in a distorted tetrahedral environment [48]. Some Zn and Cd complexes of isomaleonitriledithiolate have been described [49]. In the complex $[Cd(BCTA)_2I_2]$ (where BCTA is benzenecarbothioamide) coordination is from the two S atoms and two I atoms [50].

The synthesis of some mercaptopropylamine and mercaptopiperidine complexes of Zn and Cd have been described [51-53]. Mechanisms of the antioxidant action of zinc dialkyldithiocarbamate and zinc xanthate complexes have been investigated [54]. An electrochemical investigation of $Cd(RR'dtc)_2$ and $Cd(RR'dsc)_2$ (where dtc = dithiocarbamate and dsc = diselenocarbamate) show a series of reversible processes based on ligand exchange reactions [54]. The nature of these exchange reactions is also supported by ^{113}Cd NMR and mass spectroscopic studies [55]. The tris(diphenylthiophospinoyl)methanide complexes { $[R_2P(S)]_3C$ }CdX (where R = Ph; K = Rr, I) have been synthesised [56]. Ligand exchange in [M(TDSP)_4](ClO_4)_2 (where TDPS is tris(dimethylamino)phosphine sulphide; M = Zn, Cd) was examined by ^{31}P and ^{35}Cl NMR spectroscopy and the mechanism described as the interchange type [57]. The crystal structures of $Zn(NH_2C(O)C(S)O)_2.(H_2O)$ and $Zn(NH_2C(S)CO_2)_2.H_2O$ show the ligands coordinated by the O and S atoms to give five coordinated trigonal bipyramidal geometries about the Zn atom [58]. NMR spectroscopy was used to study some Zn and Cd halide complexes with 2-pyridinethione and 4-pyridinethione [59].

4.4 COMPLEXES WITH NITROGEN DONOR LIGANDS

4.4.1 Amines

Stability constants for Cd complexes with amines and pyridine were determined potentiometrically in dmso solution [60]. Stability constants for complex formation between Zn and 1, 2-ethanediammine were also reported [61]. Some Zn-ethylenendiammine complexes with iron carbonyl have been synthesised and their structures described [62]. The crystal structure of ZnI₂(o-Me₂N.C₆H₄.NMe₂) shows a tetrahedral environment about the Zn atom [63]. The crystal structure of the 1:2 ammonia adduct [Zn(N'-(2-pyrimidinyl)sulphanilamide)].2NH₃ shows coordination of one N from each ligand as well as from the two ammonia molecules to give a tetrahedral environment about the Zn atom [64].

4.4.2 Schiff bases, hydrazones, hydrazides and related compounds

The synthesis of Schiff base complexes of Zn and Cd continues unabated with most complexes thought to contain the metal in a tetrahedral environment [65-71]. In some instances the stability constants for new Schiff base complexes were reported [72]. Many new hydrazine and hydrazone complexes involving mainly routine synthesis were reported [73-84]. The crystal structure of the dimeric semicarbazide complex, [ZnCl₂(NH₂NHCONH₂)]₂, shows the semicarbazide ligand to act as a tridentate and the Zn atom to be in a distorted trigonal bipyramidal Cl_2O_2N environment [85]. Complexes ZnL(OH).H₂O and CdL₂ (where HL is thiosemicarbazide) contain the ligand as the imido-thiol tautomer [86]; in sulphatobis(thiosemicarbazide)Zn(II) the Zn atom is in a distorted square pyramidal environment [87]. The complex Cd(NH₂CSNHNH₂)Cl₂.H₂O is polymeric in

the solid state with the semicarbazide ligand bridging two Cd atoms and a bidentate S and Cl atom also forming bidentate bridges, the Cd atom is in a tetragonal pyramidal environment [88]. A Zn complex of the thiosemicarbazone derivative (6) has been synthesised and screened for anti-tumor activity [89].

The complexes Cd₂L (where L is 4-amino-1,6-dihydro-1-methyl-2-methylthio-5-nitroso-1,6-oxopyrimidine) and ZnX₂L' (where L' is bis(2-benzothiazolyl)disulphide) are thought to be tetrahedral [90, 91].

4.4.3 Amino acids and metalloproteins

An EXAFS study of Zn-glycinato complexes in aqueous solution show that the complex Zn(gly)₂(H₂0)₂ is octahedral [92]. X-ray diffraction studies on similar systems in aqueous solution show that the complexes $[Zn(gly)(H_20)_4]^+$ and $[Zn(gly)_3]^-$ have regular octahedral structures [93]. Zn complexes with various glycine derivatives and mixed-ligand complexes with uracil have been reported [94, 95]. The crystal structure of $[ZnL_2(H_20)_A]$ (where L is N-tosyl-β-alaninate) shows the Zn atom coordinated by two amino acid molecules, each through a carboxylic oxygen, and by four water molecules to give an approximate octahedral environment about the central metal atom [96]. Formation constants for Zn and Cd complexes with N-(2-mercaptopropionyl)glycine have been determined potentiometrically [97]. Proton NMR was used to study complexation of Zn by glycyl-L-histidyl-lysine and it was found that the ligand is tridentate with coordination by the deprotonated glycyl amino nitrogen, the deprotonated amide nitrogen atom of the glycyl-histidyl peptide bond, and the imidazole N atoms [98]. Binding sites for Zn by glycyl-L-histidine and L-alanyl-L-histidine were also investigated and it is suggested that complexes are N-bonded [99]. The use of 2D heteronuclear ¹H - ¹¹³Cd and homonuclear 113Cd - 113Cd NMR spectroscopy continue to be powerful probes for the study of metalloproteins [100, 101]. Two metal clusters, one containing three Cd atoms and the other four Cd atoms, have been identified for a Cd-metallothionein from rabbit liver [102]. Solid Cd-metalloproteins have also been investigated by ¹¹³Cd CPMAS spectra [103]. An ³¹P spectroscopic investigation of Cd complexes of phosphorothiolates of guanosine nucleotides has been described [104].

4.4.4 Heterocycles

A crystal structure determination of [CdI₂py₄].2py shows an octahedral environment about Cd provided by coordination from four py molecules and two trans iodine atoms; the remaining two py molecules are enclathrated [105]. The structure of ZnL₂.2py (where L is monothiobenzoate) comprises a Zn atom in a distorted tetrahedral environment from two S and two N atoms [106]. A number of mixed-ligand complexes involving py, substituted pyridines, and acetoacetanilide or succinate have been described [107, 108]. A ¹¹³Cd NMR spectroscopic study of py, bipy and o-phen adducts with CdCl₂ has appeared [109]. The crystal structure of bis(2-aminopyridine)zinc diiodide shows tetrahedral coordination from two iodine atoms and two ring N atoms [110]. Extraction rates of Zn and Cd into 1, 2 dichloroethane with 4, 7-diphenyl-1, 10-phen were studied [111]. Complexes ZnLL' (where HL is dipicolinic acid and L' is bipy, o-phen, or 2, 9-Me₂phen) were synthesised and are believed to be dimeric [112]. Stability constants for complex formation in the Cd-bipy-MeCN-MeOH system were determined conductiometrically [113]. A number of new quinoline and substituted quinolines complexes have been synthesised [114, 115]. The crystal structure of zinc 8-quinolinate is tetrameric with bridging O atoms of the ligands [116]. ZnL₂ (where L is 7-(methylthio)-8-mercaptoquinolinate) contains Zn in a tetrahedral environment of two mercapto S atoms and two quinoline N atoms [117]. A similar N_2S_2 environment about Zn is observed in the crystal structure of ZnL₂.3H₂O (where L is 5-sulpho-8-mercaptoquinolinate) [118]. The complexes Cu_2ZnL_6 , Cu_2CdL_6 and $[\text{CuZnL}_4]_2$ (where HL is 8-mercaptoquinoline) have been synthesised and are believed to contain bridging ligands [119]. A variety of new Zn and Cd complexes with the ligands N-(2-aminophenyl)pyridine-2'-carboxamide and N-(3-aminophenyl)pyridine-2'-carboxamide have been prepared and characterised by physiochemical techniques [120]. The complexes ZnL₂(NH₃)₂ and CdL₂(NH₂).3H₂O (where HL is theophylline) contain the ligand coordinated through the N₇ atom [121]. The crystal structure of hexa(antipyrine)cadmium(II)perchlorate shows a regular octahedral structure [122]. The complex CdL₂Cl₂ (where L is tetrazole) has been synthesised and is monomeric [123].

The synthesis of some xanthine and adenine complexes with Zn have been described [124, 125]. The guanine complex Zn(guH)Cl₂ has been prepared and is thought to be polymeric with a single-bridged -(ZnguH)- backbone and two terminal chloro ligands per metal ion [126]. A vibrational spectroscopic study of Zn(pyz)₂X₂ and Zn(pyz)X₂ (where pyz is pyrazine and X is Cl or Br) has appeared [127]. Dimeric complexes (7) have been synthesised in which the Zn atom is tetrahedrally coordinated [128]. The ligand (2-pyridyl)phenylcarbinol (LH) forms complexes ZnLH(L)ClO₄ in which the Zn atom is thought to be octahedrally coordinated, one ligand remaining protonated [129].

Complexes ML_2 (M = Zn, Cd; HL is (8)) were prepared and a kinetic study using NMR spectroscopy undertaken to determine the activation and kinetic parameters for the inversion of configuration of the tetrahedral diastereomeric forms [130, 131].

CH =NR
$$X = 0, Se$$

$$R = alkyl, aryl$$

$$R' = Ph, R'' = {}^{i}Pr$$
(8)

A series of five coordinated complexes derived from the ligand tris((3, 5-dimethylpyrazol-1-yl)methyl)amine have been synthesised in which the ligand acts as a tetradentate tripod [132]. The ligand

N, N, N'-tris((3,5-dimethylpyrazol-1-yl)methyl)-1,3-diaminopropane acts as a pentadentate donor towards zinc [133]. The synthesis of ZnL₂(ClO₄)₂.H₂O, ZnLCl₂, and ZnLSO₄.xH₂O (where L is 4-methoxy-2-(5-methoxy-3-methylpyrazol-1-yl)-6-methylpyrimidine have been described [134]. The crystal structure of ZnL(NCS)₂ (where L is 2-[bis-(2-benzimidazolylmethyl)amino]ethane) shows the Zn atom in a highly distorted trigonal bipyramidal environment where the alcoholic oxygen atom does not coordinate [135]. Formation constants for a series of Zn and Cd complexes with a series of substituted benzimidazoles have been reported [136]. The crystal structure of

 $Cd(NO_3)_2L_2.H_2O$ (where L is 2-methylmercaptoaniline) shows that the Cd is in a trigonal bipyramidal SN_2O_2 environment formed by two oxygen atoms from different nitrate groups and from one of the ligands which contributes a N and a S atom whilst the other contributes only an aniline N atom [137].

4.5 COMPLEXES WITH PHOSPHORUS, CARBON AND OTHER METAL COMPLEXES AS DONOR LIGANDS

The synthesis and crystal structure of a rare example of a zinc complex containing a phosphorus ligand has been described [138]. High yield preparations of CF_3MX from the metal and CF_2X_2 (M = Zn, Cd; X = Cl, Br) have been detailed [139].

A number of reactions involving perfluoroorganocadmium compounds have been described [140, 141]. A series of new sulphonium ylide complexes of Cd were synthesised in which coordination occurs from the methine C atom, the sulphonium group apparently is not coordinated [142, 143]. Some new, thermally stable, complexes with methylenetriphenylarsorane have been synthesised [144]. Gas phase electron diffraction was used to determine the structure of some cyclic bis(methoxyalkyl)zinc compounds [145].

The X-ray structural analysis of the cluster compound $[(CO)_4CoZn]_2Co_2(CO)_7$ shows the molecule to consist of two $Co(CO)_3$ units, bridged by one CO ligand, and two $ZnCo(CO)_4$ groups; the Zn atom is in a trigonal planar Co_3 environment [146]. The compound $Zn[(CF_3)_3Ge]_2$ can be prepared in good yield from reaction between Ph_2Zn and $(CF_3)_3GeH$ in an appropriate solvent [147].

4.6 MACROCYCLIC COMPLEXES

The synthesis and characterisation of Zn complexes with tetraazacycloalkanes such as [14]-ane N₄ and [15]-ane N₄ have been described [148, 149]. These complexes, in alcoholic solution, readily and reversibly take up CO₂ to form monoalkyl carbonates. This process is apparently facilitated by addition of bases such as NaOR or Et₃N [148]. The crystal structures of Zn(O₂COCH₃)([14]-ane N₄)(ClO₄), {[Zn(O₂COCH₃)([15]-ane N₄)]₃(O₂COCH₃)₂}(ClO₄) and [Zn(O₂COCH₃)(Me₄[14]-ane N₄)](ClO₄) have been determined [150]. The crystal structures of Zn(NCS)₂([14]-ane N₄) and Zn(NCS)₂([15]-ane N₄) are monomeric [151]. Stability constants for formation of Cd complexes with a series of tetraazamacrocycles were determined and discussed in terms of the macrocycle ring size [152]. Some new Zn complexes of N macrocycles were synthesised [153, 154]. Cadmium complexes with [18]-crown-6, and the ligands (9) were synthesised and studied using ¹¹³Cd and ¹³C NMR spectroscopy which show that the complexes are dynamically stable [155].

The complexes Zn([15]-crown-5)(ClO₄)₂ contains one coordinated perchlorate group in inert solvents such as MeNO₃ [156]. The crystal structure of the phthalocyanine complex Zn(Pc)Cl has been determined [157]. Electrochemical reduction of Zn(Pc)(CN)₈ at a variety of electrodes indicates that only the ligand is electroactive [158]. The kinetics of tetraazophorphine complex formation with Zn and Cd in pyridine suggest a bimolecular mechanism for these reactions [159]. Base binding to a Zn complex of a gable porphyrin has been studied by NMR and electron spectroscopies [160]. Fluorescence spectroscopy was used to study the kinetics of Zn²⁺ and Cd²⁺ incorporation reactions into *meso* -tetraphenylporphyrin [161]. The crystal structure of bis(tetrahydrofuran)(5, 10, 15, 20, -tetraphenylporphinato)zinc(II) contains thf molecules which are weakly coordinated to the Zn atom [162]. The crystal structure of a piperidine adduct of (5, 10, 15, 20, -tetraphenylporphinato)cadmium(II) as its *o*-xylene solvate shows a five-coordinated Cd atom, with the *o*-xylene filling cavities between the molecules [163]. An electrochemical investigation of the Zn complex of tetrakis(3, 5-di-tert-butyl-4-hydroxyphenyl)porphine shows that this complex catalyses the two-electron reduction of dioxygen [164].

REFERENCES

- 1 D. Dakternieks, Coord. Chem. Rev., 77 (1987) 125
- P.L. Goggin, G. Johansson, M. Maeda and H. Wakita, Acta. Chem. Scand., Ser. A, A38 (1984) 625
- 3 Y. Sasaki, K. Abe and M. Takizawa, Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn., 58 (1985) 1049
- 4 M.J.B. Ackerman and J.J.H. Ackerman, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 107 (1985) 6413
- 5 P.M. Ledesert, Acta. Crystallogr., Sect. C: Cryst. Struct. Commun., C41 (1985) 1154
- 6 M. Kubiak and T. Glowiak, Acta Crystallogr., Sect. C: Cryst. Struct. Commun., C41 (1985) 1580
- 7 K. Brodersen, H.U. Hummel, K. Boehm and H. Procher, Z. Naturforsch. B. Anorg. Chem., 40B (1985) 347
- 8 A.S. Antsyshkina, M.A. Poroi-Koshits, L.S. Itkina and S.M. Portnova, Zh. Neorg. Khim., 30 (1985) 1923
- C.H.L. Kennard, E.J. O'Reilly, G. Smith and T.C.W. Mak, Aust. J. Chem., 38 (1985) 1381
- 10 L.K. Templeton, D.H. Templeton, D. Zhang and A. Zalkin, Acta Crystallogr. Sect. C: Cryst. Struct. Commun., C41 (1985) 363
- 11 P. Amico, P.G. Daniele, G. Ostacoli, G. Arena, E. Rizzarelli and S. Sammartano, Transition Met. Chem. (Weinheim, Ger.) 10 (1985) 11
- 12 M.N. Patel and M.R. Chaudhari, J. Indian Chem. Soc., 61 (1984) 565
- 13 H. Siegel, R. Tribolet and K. H. Scheller, Inorg. Chim. Acta, 100 (1985) 151
- 14 R. Malini-Balakrishnan, K.H. Scheller, U. K. Haring, R. Tribolet and H. Sigel, *Inorg. Chem.*, 24 (1985) 2067
- 15 P.F. Rodesiler, E.A.H. Griffith, N.G. Charles and E.L. Amma, Acta Crystallogr. Sect. C: Cryst. Struct. Commun., C41 (1985) 673
- 16 G. Micera, L.S. Erre, F. Cariati, G. Ciani and A. Sironi, Inorg. Chem. Acta, 108 (1985) L1
- 17 G. Micera, L. Erre, P. Piu, F. Cariati, G. Giani and A. Sironi, Inorg. Chim. Acta, 107 (1985) 23
- 18 G. Smith, E.J. O'Reilly, C.H.L. Kennard and T.C.W. Mak, Inorg. Chem., 24 (1985) 2321
- 19 C. Ohm and F. Voegtle, Chem. Ber., 118 (1985) 22
- 20 L.C. Nathan, C.A. Doyle, A.M. Mooring, D.C. Zapien, S.K. Larsen and C.G. Pierpont, *Inorg. Chem.*, 24 (1985) 2763
- 21 B. Das and P.C. Roy, J. Indian Chem. Soc., 61 (1985) 697
- 22 R. Kumari, C.P.S. Chandel and C.M. Gupta, Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn., 58 (1985) 721
- 23 C.H.L. Kennard, S.W. Stewart, E.J. O'Reilly, G. Smith and A.H. White, *Polyhedron*, 4 (1985) 697
- 24 I.F. Burshtein, G.F. Volodina, N.V. Gerbeleu, O.A. Bologa, I.G. Filippova and T.I. Malinovskii, Koord. Kim., 11 (1985) 692
- 25 C.H. Taliaferro and A.E. Martell, *Inorg. Chem.*, 24 (1985) 2408
- 26 X. Solans, M. Font-Altaba, J. Oliva and J. Herrera, Acta Crystallogr. Sect. C: Cryst. Struct. Commun., C41 (1985) 1020
- N. Nakasuka, M. Kunimatsu, K. Matsumura and M. Tanaka, Inorg. Chem., 24 (1985) 10
- 28 V.V. Bochkarev, L.N. Arkhipova and O.S. Stepanova, Koord. Kim., 11 (1985) 896
- I. Zviedra, V.K. Belskii and V.K. Mardanenk, Latv. PSR Zinat. Akad. Vestis, Kim. Ser 387 (1985); Chem. Abstr., 103 (1985) 187210
- 30 W. Jabs and W. Gaube, Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem., 514 (1984) 179
- 31 R. Nagar, S.P. Tripathi and R.C. Sharma, J. Inst. Chem. (India), 57 (1985) 86
- 32 A.G.S. Hogberg, K. Madan, C. Moberg, B. Sjoberg, M. Weber and M. Muhammed, *Polyhedron*, 4 (1985) 971
- 33 E. Matczak-Jon, B. Boduszek and W. Wojciechowski, *Bull. Pol. Acad. Sci., Chem.*, 32 (1984); *Chem. Abstr.*, 102 (1985) 105084
- 34 G. Crisponi, R. Caminiti, S. Biagini, M. Casu and A. Lai, Polyhedron, 3 (1984) 1105
- 35 V.W. Miner and J.H. Prestegard, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 107 (1985) 2177
- 36 B.V. Rao, N. Palta, S. Dubey and D.M. Puri, Transition Met. Chem. (Weinheim, Ger.), 10 (1985) 60

- 37 F. Teixidor, A. Llobet, L. Escriche and J. Casabo, Polyhedron, 3 (1984) 1017
- 38 R.C. Aggarwal and D.S.S. Narayana, Indian J. Chem., Sect A 23A (1984) 962
- 39 D.O. Harrison, R. Thomas, A.E. Underhill, J.K. Fletcher, P.S. Gomm and F. Hallway, *Polyhedron*, 4 (1985) 681
- 40 V.P. Nikolaev, T.S. Khodashova, M.A. Porai-Koshits, L.A. Butman and G.V. Tsintsadze, Koord. Kim., 11 (1985) 1386
- 41 K.N. Thimmaiah, G.T. Chandrappa, W.D. Lloyd and C. Parkanyi, Inorg. Chim. Acta, 107 (1985) 1
- 42 I.G. Dance and J.K. Saunders, Inorg. Chim. Acta, 96 (1985) L71
- 43 I.G. Dance, Aust. J. Chem., 38 (1985) 1391
- 44 I.G. Dance, Aust. J. Chem., 38 (1985) 1745
- 45 P.A.W. Dean and J.J. Vittal, *Inorg. Chem.*, 24 (1985) 3722
- 46 A.D. Watson, Ch.P. Rao, J.R. Dorfman and R.H. Holm, Inorg. Chem., 24 (1985) 2820
- 47 D. Coucouvanis, P.R. Patil, M.G. Kanatzidis, B. Detering and
- N.C. Baenziger, *Inorg. Chem.*, 24 (1985) 24 H. Wang, D. Zhu, N. Zhu, and H. Ku, *Wuli Huaxue Xuebao*,1 (9185) 378; 48 Chem. Abstr., 103 (1985) 187238
- 49 M.K. Singh, R.C. Aggarwal and B. Singh, Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem., 15 (1985) 459
- A. Castineiras, A. Arquero, J.R. Masaguer, A. Ruiz-Amil, 50 S. Martinez-Carreva and S. Garcia-Blanco, Polyhedron, 4 (1985) 143
- 51 H. Barrera, J. Pons and J. Suedes, An. Quim. Ser. B, 80 (1984) 311; Chem. Abstr., 102 (1985) 159407
- 52 H. Barrera, J. Sola and J.M. Vinas, Transition Met. Chem. (Weinheim, Ger.), 10 (1985) 233
- 53 W. Gaete and J. Ros, Polyhedron, 4 (1985) 485
- 54 M.D. Sexton, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. II, (1985) 59
- 55 A.M. Bond, R. Colton, M.L. Dillon, A.F. Hollenkamp and J.E. Moir, Inorg. Chem., 24 (1985) 1591
- 56 S.O. Grim, P.H. Smith, S. Nittolo, H.L. Ammon, L.C. Satek, S.A. Sangokoya, R.K. Khanna, I.J. Colquhoun, W. McFarlane and J.R. Holden, *Inorg. Chem.*, 24 (1985) 2889
- 57 K. Alouani, M.R. Khaddar, L. Rodehuser, P.R. Rubini and J.-J. Delpuech, *Polyhedron*, 4 (1985) 643
- 58 J. Bertels and R. Mattes,
 - Z. Naturforsch.., B. Anorg. Chem., Org. Chem., 40B(8) (1985) 1068 R. Shunmugam and D.N. Sathyanarayana,
- 59 J. Coord. Chem., 14 (1985) 27
- 60 V.P. Shram and V.I. Dulova, Ukr. Khim. Zh. (Russ. Ed.) 50 (1984) 1018; Chem. Abstr. 102 (1985) 68179
- 61 M. Wilgocki, J. Coord. Chem. 14 (1985) 39
- A.E. Mauro and M.N.G. Mancini, Polyhedron, 3 (1984) 1333 62
- C.M. Hughes, M.C. Favas, B.W. Skelton and A.H. White, 63 Aust. J. Chem., 38 (1985) 1521
- 64 C.J. Brown, D.S. Cook and L. Sengier, Acta Crystallogr. Sect. C: Cryst. Struct. Commun., C41 (1985) 718
- J.M. Bellerby, J.H. Morris and W.E. Smith, Inorg. Chim. Acta, 96 (1985) 203 65
- 66 T.R. Rao, M. Sahay and R.C. Aggarwal, Indian J. Chem., Sect. A 24A (1985) 649
- 67 C.M. Dani and A.K. Das, *Indian J. Chem.*, Sect. A 24A (1985) 1041
- 68 S.M. Ali, K. Iftikhar and N. Ahmad,
 - Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem., 14 (1984) 1031
- 69 R.C. Aggarwal and D.S.S. Narayana, Indian J. Chem., Sect. A. 23A (1984) 920
- M.F. Iskander, L. El-Sayed, M. Tawfik and M. Arafa, 70 Inorg. Chim. Acta, 104 (1985) 125
- J.M. Bellerby, J.H. Morris, W.E. Smith and J.M. McCrae, 71 Inorg. Chim. Acta, 96 (1985) 209
- 72 K.J. Charyulu, K.L. Omprakash, A.V.C. Pal and M.L.N. Reddy, J. Indian Chem. Soc., 62 (1985) 121

- 73 T.R. Rao, M. Sahay and R.C. Aggarwal, Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem., 15 (1985) 175
- 74 R.I. Machkhoshvili, D.P. Metreveli, G.Sh. Mitaishvili and R.N. Shchelokov, Zh. Neorg. Khim., 30 (1985) 676
- K.L. Reddy, S. Srihari and P. Lingaiah, 75 Indian J. Chem. Sect. A 42A (1985) 318
- 76 T.R. Rao, M. Sahay, R.C. Aggarwal, Indian J. Chem. Sect. A 24A (1985) 79
- 77 N.M. Samus, A.D. Toleva, A.N. Shishkov and V.I. Tsapkov, Koord. Khim., 10 (1984) 1336
- 78 S.P. Perlepes, D. Nicholls and M.R. Harrison, Inorg. Chim. Acta, 102 (1985) 137
- 79 L. Mishra, Indian J. Chem. Sect. A 24A (1985) 238 R.P. Gupta and A.K. Srivastava,
- 80 Synth. React. Inorg. Met.-Org. Chem., 15 (1985) 117
- 81 R.C. Aggarwal and D.S.S. Narayana, Indian J. Chem. Sect. A 24A (1985) 1044
- 82 M.G. Ivanor, I.I. Kalinichenko and A.M. Savitskii, Koord. Kim., 11 (1985) 45
- 83 A.A. El-Asmy, M.M. Bekheit, K.M. Ibrahim and M.M. Mostafa, Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. (1985) 14
- 84 B.B. Mahapatra and D. Panda, Transition Met. Chem. (Weinheim, Ger.) 9 (1984) 476
- 85 A.I. Gusev, E.B. Chuklanova, B. Murzubraimov and A. Toktomamatov, Koord. Khim., 11 (1985) 1154
- 86 Y.Y. Kharitonov, B. Murzubraimov and A. Toktomamatov, Koord. Khim. 11 (1985) 712
- 87 S. Larsen and F.S. Nielsen, Acta Chem. Scand., Ser A A39 (1985) 441
- 88 A.I. Gusev, E.B. Chuklanova, B. Mirzubraimov and A. Toktomamatov, Koord. Khim. 11 (1985) 1289
- 89 M. Mohan, P. Sharma and N.K. Jha, *Inorg. Chim. Acta*, 106 (1985) 117
- 90 M.N. Moreno-Carretero, A.M. Martinez-Garzon, R. Lopez-Garzon and J.M. Salas-Peregrin, Rev. Chim. Miner., 22 (1985) 369
- 91 A.I. Prisyazhnyuk and V.A. Karpinchik, Zh. Neorg. Khim., 30 (1985) 1213
- 92 K. Ozutsumi, T. Yamaguchi, H. Ohtaki, K. Tohjii and Y. Udagawa, Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 58 (1985) 2786
- 93 K. Ozutsumi and H. Ohtaki, Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 58 (1985) 1651
- 94 L. Lomozik and A. Wojciechowska, Monatsh. Chem., 116 (1985) 719
- 95 M. Gupta and M.N. Srivastava, Polyhedron, 4 (1985) 475
- 96 L.P. Battaglia, A.B. Corradi, L. Menabue, M. Saladini, M. Sola and G.B. Gavioli, Inorg. Chim. Acta, 107 (1985) 73
- M. Filella and D.R. Williams, Inorg. Chim. Acta, 106 (1985) 49 97
- 98 S.A. Daignault, A.P. Arnold, A.A. Isab, and D.L. Rabenstein, Inorg. Chem., 24 (1985) 3984
- 99 D.L. Rabenstein, S.A. Daignault, A.A. Isab, A.P. Arnold and M.M. Shoukry, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 107 (1985) 6435
- D.H. Live, I.M. Armitage, D.C. Dalgarno and D. Cowburn, 100 J. Am. Chem. Soc., 107 (1985) 1775
- D.H. Live, C.L. Kojiro, D. Cowburn and J.L. Markley, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 107 (1985) 3043
- M.H. Frey, G. Wagner, M. Vasak, O.W. Sorensen, D. Neuhaus, 102 E. Worgotter, J.H.R. Kagi, R.R. Ernst and K. Wuthrich, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 107 (1985) 6847
- 103 P.S. Marchetti, P.D. Ellis and R.G. Bryant, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 107 (1985) 8191
- 104 P. Roesch, R.S. Goody and M. Isakov, *Phosphorus Sulphur*, 21 (1984) 9
- 105 M. Ito, T. Shibata and Y. Saito, Acta Crystallogr. Sect. C: Cryst. Struct. Commun., C40 (1985) 2041
- 106 F.N. Guseinov, B.T. Usubaliev and Kh.S. Mamedov, Koord. Kim., 1 (1985) 1281
- B.B. Mahapatra and D. Panda, J. Indian Chem. Soc., 61 (9184) 568 107
- 108 B. Das and P.C. Roy, J. Inst. Chem. (India) 57 (1985); Chem. Abstr. 103 (1985) 114988
- Z. Yang, X. Han, J. Hu and T. Ji, Bopuxue Xazhi 2 (1985) 25; 109 Chem. Abstr. 104 (1985) 13879

- 110 A.Z. Amanov, D.A. Iashivili, A.N. Shnulin, N.I. Guseva, A.A. Akhundova and M.A. Porai-Koshits, *Dokl. Akad. Nauk. Az. SSr.*, 40 (1984) 55; *Chem. Abstr.*, 102 (1985) 141306
- 111 T. Honjo, A. Okazaki, K. Terada and K. Toshiyasu, Talanta 32(8B) (1985) 771
- 112 B. Chatterjee and S.R. Samanta, J. Indian Chem. Soc., 61 (1984) 202
- 113 V.A. Shormanov, S.N. Pukhov, G.I. Repkin, G.A. Krestov and M.G. Tyagina, Koord. Kim., 11 (1985) 899
- 114 P.K. Panda and B.K. Mohapatra, J. Indian Chem. Soc., 61 (1984) 365
- 115 H. Nariai, Y. Masuda and E. Sekido, Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn., 57 (1984) 3077
- 116 Y. Kai, M. Morita, N. Yasuoka and N. Kasai, Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn., 58 (1985) 58
- 117 O.G. Matyukhina, A.N. Sobolev, J. Lejejs, J. Ozols, V.S. Fundamenskii and A.Yu. Bankovskii, *Koord. Kim.*, 11 (1985) 264
- 118 A. Ozala, J. Ozols, A. Kemme, M. Bundule, J. Bleidelis, J. Asaks and A.Yu. Bankovskii, Zh. Strukt. Kim., 26 (1985) 107
- 119 V.I. Suprunovich, L.A. Golovko and L.V. Nashivan'ko, Zh. Neorg. Khim., 30 (1985) 113
- 120 T. Kabanos, S.P. Perlepes, B. Hondrellis and J.M. Tsangaris, Rev. Chim. Miner., 22 (1985) 344
- 121 J.M. Peregrin Salas, E. Rodriguez Colacio, M. Carretero Moreno and J.de D. Gonzalez Lopez, An. Quim., Ser. B 80 (1984) 167; Chem. Abstr., 102 (1985) 16502
- 122 C. Mahadevan, A. Radha and M. Seshasayee, Z. Kristallogr., 169 (1984) 159
- 123 L.G. Lavrenova, S.V. Larionov, V.N. Ikorskii and Z.A. Grankina, Zh. Neorg. Khim., 30 (1985) 964; Chem. Abstr., 102 (1985) 214165
- 124 C.M. Mikulski, M. Kurlan and N.M. Karayannis, Inorg. Chim. Acta, 106 (1985) L25
- 125 C.M. Mikulski, S. Cocco, N.De. Franco, T. Moore and N.M. Karayannis, Inorg. Chim. Acta, 106 (1985) 89
- 126 C.M. Mikulski, L. Mattucci, L. Weiss and N.M. Karayannis, Inorg. Chim. Acta, 107 (1985) 81
- 127 R.B. Birdy and M. Goodgame, Inorg. Chim. Acta, 101 (1985) L5
- 128 G.C. Van Stein, G. Van Koten, H. Passenier, O. Steinebach and K. Vrieze, *Inorg. Chim. Acta*, 89 (1984) 79
- 129 R.K. Boggess and C.E. Heltzel, Inorg. Chem., 24 (1985) 2947
- 130 A.L. Nivorozhkin, M.S. Korobov, L.E. Konstantinovskii and V.I. Minkin, Zh. Obshch. Khim., 55 (1985) 967; Chem. Abstr., 103 (1985) 188361
- 131 L.E. Nivorozhkin, M.S. Korobov, A.L. Nivorozhkin, L.E. Konstantinovskii and V.I. Minkin, Zh. Obshch. Khim., 55 (1985) 1125; Chem. Abstr., 103 (1985) 133846
- 132 G.J. van Driel, W.L. Driessen and J. Reedijk, Inorg. Chem., 24 (1985) 2919
- 133 E. Bouwman, W.L. Driessen and J. Reedijk, Inorg. Chem., 24 (1985) 4730
- 134 M.C. Molla, J. Garcia and J. Borras, Synth. React. Inorg. Met-Org. Chem., 15 (1985) 553
- 135 K. Takahashi, Y. Nishida and S. Kida, Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn., 57 (1984) 2628
- 136 A.K. Murthy and P. Lingaiah, *Indian J. Chem.*, Sect. A 23A (1984) 969
- 137 E.A.H. Griffith, N.G. Charles, P.F. Rodesiler and E.L. Amma, Polyhedron, 4 (1985) 615
- 138 F.A. Cotton, S.A. Duraj, W.J. Roth and C.D. Schmulbach, Inorg. Chem., 24 (1985) 525
- 139 D.J. Burton and D.M. Weimers, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 107 (1985) 5014
- 140 H. Lange and D. Naumann, J. Fluorine Chem., 27 (1985) 309
- 141 H. Lange and D. Naumann, J. Fluorine Chem., 27 (1985) 299
- 142 R.K. Singhal, A.K. Awasthi and N.K. Mishra, Indian J. Chem., Sect. A 23A (1984) 1046
- 143 R.S. Tewari and A.K. Awasthi, J. Organometal. Chem., 271 (1984) 403
- 144 Y. Yamamoto, Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn., 57 (1984) 2835
- 145 J. Boersma, L. Fernholt and A. Haaland, Acta Chem. Scand., Ser. A A38 (1984) 523
- 146 J.M. Burlitch, S.E. Hayes and J.T. Lemley, Organometallics, 4 (1985) 167
- 147 N.L. Ermolaev, G.A. Vasil'eva, L.I. Vyshinskaya, M.N. Bochkarev and
 - G.A. Razuvaev. Zh. Obshch. Kim., 55 1985) 617; Chem. Abstr., 103 (1985) 123625

- 148 M. Kato and T. Ito, Inorg. Chem., 24 (1985) 504
- 149 H. Ito and T. Ito, Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn., 58 (1985) 1755
- 150 M. Kato and T. Ito, Inorg. Chem., 24 (1985) 509
- 151 T. Ito, M. Kato and H. Ito, Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn., 57 (1984) 2634
- 152 V.J. Thom, G.D. Hosken and R.D. Hancock, Inorg. Chem., 24 (1985) 3378
- 153 M.F. Cabral, B. Murphy and J. Nelson, *Inorg. Chim. Acta*, 90 (1984) 169
- 154 A. Yu Nazarenko, S.G. Pinaeva and L.B. Krivonos, Ukr. Khim. Zh., 51 (1985) 6; Chem. Abstr., 102 (1985) 214122
- 155 A.D. Keller, T. Drakenberg, R.W. Briggs and I.W. Armitage, Inorg. Chem., 24 (1985) 1170
- 156 F.L. Dickert, W. Gumbrecht, S.W. Hellmann and M.F. Waidhas, Ber. Bunsen-Ges. Phys. Chem., 89 (1985) 875; Chem. Abstr., 103 (1985) 170976
- 157 M. Mossoyan-Deneux, D. Benlian, M. Pierrot, A. Fournel and J.P. Sorbier, *Inorg. Chem.*, 24 (1985) 1878
- 158 A. Louati, M. El Meray, J.J. Andre', J. Simon, M. Gross and A. Giraudeau, *Inorg. Chem.*, 24 (1985) 1175
- 159 B.D. Berezin, O.G. Khelevina and P.A. Stuzhin, Zh. Fiz. Kim., 59 (1985) 2181; Chem. Abstr., 103 (1985) 201600
- I. Tabushi, S. Kugimiya, M.G. Kinnaird and T. Sasaki,
 J. Am. Chem. Soc., 107 (1985) 4192
- 161 V.H. Rao and V. Krishnan, Inorg. Chem., 24 (1985) 3538
- 162 C.K. Schauer, O.P. Anderson, S.S. Eaton and G.R. Eaton, Inorg. Chem., 24 (1985) 4082
- 163 P.F. Rodesiler, E.A.H. Griffith, N.G. Charles, L. Lebioda and E.L. Amma, Inorg. Chem., 24 (1985) 4595
- 164 T.A. Evans, G.S. Srivatsa, D.T. Sawyer and T.G. Traylor, Inorg. Chem., 24 (1985) 4733